**RECEIVED**

**Jun 27 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Case Number 2018-CP-26-03173

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001529

Frederick E. Brown, Charles O. Pakosta, Conrad A. Calvano, Gayle N. Scott, and Philip D. Cox, individually and derivatively on behalf of Myrtle Beach Resort Homeowners' Association, Inc., and on behalf of all other similarly situated Co-owners, and Lori Niedzwiecki, and Robert S. Rosencrans, individually and derivatively on behalf of the Myrtle Beach Resort Homeowners' Association, Inc. for its right and benefit.....Appellants,

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING SECTION 4.1 OF THE DECLARATION WHEN READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE LANGUAGE OF THE DECLARATION, AMENDED BY-LAWS, AND HORIZONTAL PROPERTY REGIME ACT DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND/OR IMPLIEDLY ESTABLISH CORRESPONDING DUTIES AND MANDATORY OBLIGATIONS ON THE PART OF THE BOARD WITH CERTAIN DISCRETIONARY POWERS UNDER THIS SECTION?
  
- II. DID THE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO RECONCILE THE APPARENT CONFLICT BETWEEN SECTION 4.1 OF THE DECLARATION AND ARTICLE IV, SUBSECTION 8(E) OF THE AMENDED BY-LAWS BY INCORRECTLY INTERPRETING SECTION 4.1 TO GRANT ONLY DISCRETIONARY POWERS TO THE BOARD WITHOUT ANY MANDATORY DUTIES UNDER THIS SECTION? THE LOWER COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 4.1 EVISCERATES AND/OR ANNULS ARTICLE IV, SECTION 8 OF THE AMENDED BY-LAWS?
  
- III. DID THE COURT ERR IN NOT CONCLUDING THE RESPONDENTS HAD VOLUNTARILY UNDERTAKEN TO PERFORM THE ACTS AS DESCRIBED IN SUBPARAGRAPHS (A) THROUGH (H) OF SECTION 4.1 OF DECLARATION THEREBY RENDERING THESE PROVISIONS AS AFFIRMATIVE OBLIGATIONS?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was commenced by Appellants derivatively on behalf of the Myrtle Beach Resort Homeowners' Association, Inc., ("MBRHOA") on May 24, 2018, by the filing of their Verified Complaint seeking relief from the Court regarding the *Ultra Vires* and Breach of Contract Claims ("Personal Claims") against Respondents Jeffery L. Richardson ("Richardson") Peter A. Grusauskas ("Grusauskas"), Nancy L. Moore ("Moore"), and Jim Perkins ("Perkins"), who are either former and/or present Directors on the Board of Directors for the MBRHOA, and also seeking Declaratory Judgment Relief, among other things, on the following grounds:

- a. That the Respondents and their successors or designees have affirmative duties and responsibilities under MBRHOA's governing documents to provide security services for the Resort Property, which are non-delegable to the individual condominium associations from the MBRHOA;
- b. That the Respondents and their successors or designees have affirmative duties and responsibilities under MBRHOA's governing documents to provide trash collection services for the Resort Property, which cannot be legally delegated to the individual condominium associations from the MBRHOA; and
- c. That the Respondents and their successors or designees are bound by the express provisions of the MBRHOA's governing documents and are required to comply with their affirmative obligations under these governing documents. (R. p. 0038, ¶ 46 (a), (b) and (d).)

MBRHOA is charged with administering certain affairs of the Myrtle Beach Resort, a resort within Horry County, South Carolina presently including: (a) Myrtle Beach Resort Horizontal Property Regime, Inc. ("HPR"); (b) Myrtle Beach Resort Ocean Front Spa Horizontal Property Regime, Inc. ("Ocean Front Spa"); (c) Renaissance Tower Horizontal Property Regime, Inc. ("Renaissance Tower"); (d) Myrtle Beach Resort Five Seasons Centre Council of Co-Owners, Inc. ("Five Seasons Centre") (Collectively known as "Four Individual Condominium Regimes"). (R. p. 0030, ¶ 23.)

On July 13, 2018, the Respondents Richardson and Grusauskas answered the Verified Derivative Complaint, denying the allegations of wrongdoing. (R. pp. 123-133.)

On July 30, 2018, the Nominal Defendant MBRHOA answered the Verified Derivative Complaint, asserting insufficient knowledge or information to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in the paragraphs of the pleading. (R. pp. 134-144.) Lastly, the Respondents Moore and Perkins answered the Verified Derivative Complaint on August 24, 2018, denying the allegations of wrongdoing. (R. pp. 145-155.)

On November 14, 2018, the Appellants filed a Motion for the Court to appoint a Temporary Custodian, not as an anticipatory adjunct to dissolution, but only to operate and manage MBRHOA during the pendency of this litigation or until the dissension and deadlock between the four-member Board of Directors (“Board”) was resolved. Specifically, the Appellants’ motion asserted that the four-member Board was evenly deadlocked - with respect to the following purported issues and/or actions not taken by them as set forth below:

- a. Board could not elect corporate officers: the President, the Vice President, the Secretary, and the Treasurer, within thirty (30) days after the Association’s Annual Meeting that was held on April 29, 2018. (R. p. 1998, line 23 – p. 2000, line 2.)
- b. Board could not adopt the 2019 Annual Operating Budget for the MBRHOA prepared by Empress Resort Management (“Empress”). The three different annual budget options adequately addressed all known shortfalls in the operating and reserve accounts. (R. p. 1993, lines 13-25; R. p. 1994, lines 1-10; R. p. 1995, lines 22-25; R. p. 2001, lines 22-24.)
- c. Board could not agree to a special assessment for the \$297,000.00 shortfall in the 2018 operating account as directed by Empress; (R. p. 1997, lines 13-21.)
- d. Board could not agree to a special assessment for the \$377,239.87 shortfall in the 2018 reserve account as directed by Empress; (R. p. 1989, lines 1-25; R. p. 1991, lines 4-13.)
- e. Board could not agree to prosecute Renaissance Tower for non-payment of MBRHOA assessment in the amount of \$116,000.00; (R. pp. 1983 – 1985, lines 1-7.)
- f. Board could not agree to prosecute Oceanfront Spa for non-payment of MBRHOA assessment in the amount of \$106,000.00; and (R. p. 1985, line 1- p. 1987, line 18.)
- g. Board could not agree to sign and approve the Board meeting minutes recorded and transcribed in 2018. (R. p. 2002, lines 6-9; R. pp. 156-164.)

On December 12, 2018, after hearing arguments from counsel and testimony from a witness, the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. denied the Appellants' Motion for the Appointment of a Temporary Custodian but granted Appellants' request for equitable relief and issued an Order appointing Attorney Kenneth Moss ("Moss") as a fifth board member for the MBRHOA with the authority to vote to resolve the dissension and deadlock between the four-member Board of Directors. (R. p. 0001-0004.)

On February 17, 2020, the Appellants filed an Amended Verified Derivative Complaint adding a cause of action for judicial dissolution under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-1430 requesting the Court either involuntarily dissolve MBRHOA or employ the statutory reasonable alternatives to dissolution. (R. p. 0344-0375.)

On March 16, 2020, the Respondents Richardson, Grusauskas, Moore and Perkins, answered the Appellants' Amended Verified Derivative Complaint, denying the allegations of wrongdoing. (R. pp. 0840-0852; R. pp. 0827-0839.)

On March 24, 2020, the Appellants moved for Partial Summary Judgment, among other things, that the MBRHOA's Board of Directors' powers under Section 4.1, Article IV of the Declaration are not optional, but affirmative obligations binding on each of the individual Board members. (R. pp. 0853-0857.) The Appellants filed a memorandum in support of their motion for Partial Summary Judgment on April 30, 2021. (R. pp. 0896-0987.)

On April 24, 2020, this case was assigned to the Business Court for Horry County. It was further ordered that this case be assigned to the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. (R. pp. 0005-0006.)

On March 22, 2021, the Respondents moved for Partial Summary Judgment and requested that the Court grant judgment by declaring Section 4.1, Article IV of the Declaration only grants

additional discretionary powers to the Board of Directors for MBRHOA, not mandatory obligations. (R. pp. 0858-0859.) Respondents filed a memorandum in support of their motion on April 28, 2021. (R. pp. 0860-0895.)

On May 4, 2021, after hearing arguments from counsel at a scheduled motion hearing, Judge R. Markley Dennis ruled from the bench and declared in his Order that “the language of Section 4.1 of Article IV of the Declaration grants additional powers or authority to the Board, but the Board is not required to exercise those powers.” The Court made this finding even though the Court also found that “[b]oth parties agree[d] that section 3.2 of Article III of the Declaration and Section 8 of the By-Laws mandate[d] certain Board actions.” (R. pp. 0007-0013.) In so declaring, the Court granted the Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to the Appellants’ Third Cause of Action, while at the same time denying the Appellants’ Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 1968-1981; R. pp. 0007-0013.)

On January 10, 2022, the Court signed the proposed order granting the Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 0007-0013.)

The Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider on January 18, 2022. (R. pp. 0988-1012.)

By email dated April 6, 2022, Judge Dennis communicated to all counsel of record his decision to deny the Appellants’ Motion to Reconsider. Judge Dennis requested Respondents prepare the Order, and counsel for Respondents submitted the proposed Order to Judge Dennis’ chambers by email dated April 7, 2022. Judge Dennis retired without issuing a written Order on the Motion to Reconsider and Court administration assigned this action to Judge William H. Seals, Jr. by Order dated August 26, 2022, for the handling of all matters, including “all pretrial motions and other matters pertaining to this case.” (R. pp. 0014-0016.)

On October 5, 2022, the Court denied Appellants' Motion to Reconsider without a hearing and also without further input from the attorneys. (R. pp. 0017-0021.)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the circuit court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, to wit: summary judgment is proper when no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr., 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006). On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below. Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc., 369 S.C. 20, 25, 630 S.E.2d 474, 477 (2006); *see also* Schmidt v. Courtney, 357 S.C. 310, 317, 592 S.E. 2d 326, 330 (Ct.App.2003) (stating that all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed strongly against the moving party).

When further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law, summary judgment is not appropriate. Gadson v. Hembree, 364 S.C. 316, 320, 613 S.E.2d 533, 535 (2005); Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 220, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct.App.2005). Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm'n, 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct.App.2004). Stated differently, "Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts." Tupper v. Dorchester Cnty., 326 S.C. 318, 325, 487 S.E.2d 187, 191 (1997).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Myrtle Beach Resort (“Resort”) is a condominium project located just south of the City of Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. It is composed of four separate horizontal property regimes: (a) Myrtle Beach Resort Horizontal Property Regime, Inc. (“HPR”) consisting of 251 Residential Units; (b) Myrtle Beach Resort Ocean Front Spa Horizontal Property Regime (“Ocean Front Spa”) consisting of 267 Residential Units and 4 Commercial Units for a total of 271 Units; (c) Renaissance Tower Horizontal Property Regime, Inc. (“Renaissance Tower”) consisting of 322 Residential Units and 5 Commercial Units for a total of 327 Units; and (d) Myrtle Beach Resort Five Seasons Centre Council of Co-Owners, Inc. (“Five Seasons Centre”) consisting of 156 Residential Units and 5 Commercial Units. (Collectively known as “Four Individual Condominium Regimes”). Thus, in total the Resort consists of 996 Residential Units and 14 Commercial Units, as well as many recreational amenities available to the members and guests of the Resort. (R. pp. 2032-2420; R. pp. 2437-2465.) (R. p. 0320, ¶ 6.) A fifth regime was intended to be developed, but was never developed.

The Master Deed and Bylaws for the four separate horizontal property regimes located within the Resort were recorded in the Office of Register of Deeds for Horry County, South Carolina as follows:

- a. HPR’s Master Deed and Bylaws was recorded on June 6, 1982 in Deed Book 750, at Page 642;
- b. Ocean Front Spa’s Master Deed and Bylaws was recorded on April 25, 1983 in Deed Book 789 at Page 362;
- c. Renaissance Tower’s Master Deed and Bylaws was recorded on November 28, 1984 in Deed Book 917, at Page 885; and
- d. Five Seasons Centre Master Deed and Bylaws was recorded on June 20, 1985 in Deed Book 966, at Page 654. (R. pp. 2032-2420; R. pp. 2437-2465.) (R. p. 0320, ¶ 6.)

The Master Deed and Bylaws for the separate horizontal property regimes are almost identical with one another and all four regimes contain the same provision for Article XVIII. This

Article grants authority to the Declarant or his successors and assigns in interest the right to create a Master Association. Article XVIII provides in pertinent part as follows:

**The Co-Owners shall each be members of The Myrtle Beach Resort Homeowners Association and as such shall pay pro rata with the Owners of other dwelling Apartments and other interests in real property within the Resort who shall be given similar easements and license of use all costs of maintenance, upkeep, and repair arising out of or associated with the Resort Facilities as such exist from time to time; such costs to include, but not limited to, providing management supervision and control thereof, property taxes, insurance, maintenance and reserve funds and all other costs connected or associated therewith (herein collectively "Resort Expenses"). Such Resort Expenses shall be included as an item of Common Expense and paid over by the Council of Co-Owners to Declarant, its successors or assigns in interest as developer of the Resort (or Present Owner, as the case may be), or its designee, upon such schedule (but not more frequently than once a month) and in advance for use for such purpose, provided the Board or the Council of Co-Owners shall be entitled to an annual accounting of the use of all Resort Expenses by Declarant or its designee. In the event of non-payment of Resort Expenses, Declarant, or if appropriate its designee, shall be subrogated to the rights of the Council of Co-Owners as to the individual Co-Owners to collect the Resort Expenses from the Co-Owners, including being subrogated to all lien rights for non-payment of Common Expenses as described in the Master Deed. (Emphasis added).**

Declarant (its successors or assigns in interest as developer of the Resort or Present Owner, as the case may be) may, in its sole discretion **establish the Myrtle Beach Resort Homeowners Association (herein "Homeowners"), which shall be an association (which may in Declarant's sole discretion, be incorporated as a corporation or as corporation not for profit or unincorporated) and all Co-Owners shall, in addition to being Co-Owners, automatically become members thereof.** In addition, the Board of Directors shall elect one of its members who shall serve on the Board of Directors of the Homeowners. The Board of Directors shall be comprised of one representative from ... [each of the existing and future Regimes], one representative from Myrtle Beach Resort Horizontal Property Regime, one representative from Myrtle Beach Oceanfront Spa Horizontal Property Regime and one representative from each other development as Declarant as developer of the Resort shall designate. **In the event of such establishment, Declarant shall designate Homeowners as its designee to carry out the duties and responsibilities and have the powers granted herein to Declarant's designee.** In addition, Declarant (its successors or assigns in interest as developer of the Resort or Present Owner as the case may be) may, in its sole discretion, at any time convey to the Regime and its Co-Owners and/or any other horizontal property regimes or other multi-family developments within the Resort or which Declarant has developed in close proximity to the Resort having the like non-exclusive easements and Licenses for use, or to Homeowners, all or any portion of the Resort Facilities

or any interests therein, provided such shall be for no consideration other than actual cost of such improvement or facility. Declarant... retaining unto itself and the right to grant to such third parties as it may designate easements and licenses for use consistent with the conveyed facilities and contracts for management thereof and all matters and right theretofore of record. **In such event, such documents shall be considered an amendment to this Master Deed and execution only by the Declarant (or its successors or assigns in interest as developer of the Resort or Present Owner as case may be), shall be sufficient and no execution, concurrence or consent shall be required of the Council of Co-Owners, any Co-owner, any Mortgagee or any third-party whatsoever.** (Emphasis added).

The MBRHOA was created as an umbrella or “Master Association” for HPR, Five Seasons Centre, Renaissance Tower, and Ocean Front Spa Condominium Regimes as evidenced by the Articles of Incorporation filed with the South Carolina Secretary of State on April 30, 1987 as well as the Master Deeds for HPR, Five Seasons Centre, Renaissance Tower, and Ocean Front Spa. (R. pp. 2215-2218; R. pp. 2131-2134; R. pp. 2327-2330; R. pp. 2437-2476; R. pp. 0997-0998.)

On March 18, 1987, the Original Declarant<sup>1</sup> (“Assignor”) assigned its rights under Articles XIV, XVIII, and XIX, of the Master Deeds for HPR, Five Seasons Centre, Renaissance Tower, and Ocean Front Spa to Vacation Properties, Inc. (“Assignee Declarant” or “Vacation Properties”) by an Assignment of Declarant Rights filed in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Horry County, South Carolina in Deed Book 1121, Page 401 on March 18, 1987 (“First Assignment”). (R. pp. 2007-2018.) Specifically, Original Declarant granted, conveyed and assigned to Vacation Properties under subparagraph (1) the following:

- a. all of the Assignor’s rights, title and interest (on a non-exclusive basis) in and to the easements reserved by Assignor under Article XIV of the Master Deed, including but not limited to easements for access to and for ingress and egress across portions of the Regime Property for pedestrian and vehicular purposes, and easements across the Regime Property for the purpose of providing access to the beach area which is part of the Regime Property, together with a license to use the beach area which is part of the Regime Property;

---

<sup>1</sup> The Original Declarant was Resort Development Corp (f/k/a Resort Investment Corp).

- b. all of the Assignor's rights reserved by Assignor under Article XIV of the Master Deed to grant the easements described in subparagraph a. above to those persons or entities designated in Article XIV;
- c. all of the Assignor's rights reserved by Assignor under Article XVIII of the Master Deed to add any part or all of portions of the Resort Property now owned or hereafter acquired by the Assignee to the Resort (as defined in the Master Deed), including but not limited to the Assignor's reserved right to grant easements for ingress and egress across areas of the Regime Property to the Atlantic Ocean and its beach;
- d. *all of the Assignor's rights reserved under Article XIV of the Master Deed to establish a master homeowners association for the present and future owners of any part or all of the Resort Property; and*
- e. all of the Assignor's rights under Article XIX of the Master Dees to convey additional property located within the Resort Property to the regime and its co-owners, subject to the restrictions set forth in said Article XIX. (R. pp. 2007-2018.) (Emphasis added).

On October 10, 1987, Vacation Properties conveyed one (1) acre to MBRHOA as shown in Plat Book 98 at 13; the Deed was recorded in Deed Book 1173 at 404 in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Horry County, South Carolina. Stated consideration was \$5.00. (R. pp. 2421-2424.)

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