RECEIVED

Jun 05 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Case Number 2018-CP-26-03173

Appellate Case No. 2022-001529

Frederick E. Brown, Charles O. Pakosta, Conrad A. Calvano, Gayle N. Scott, and Phillip D. Cox, individually and derivatively on behalf of Myrtle Beach Resort Homeowners' Association, Inc., and on behalf of all other similarly situated Co-owners, and Lori Niedzwiecki, and Robert S. Rosencrans, individually and derivatively on behalf of the Myrtle Beach Resort Homeowners' Association, Inc. for its right and benefit, Appellants,

v.

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT SECTION 4.1 OF THE DECLARATION, WHEN READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE LANGUAGE OF THE AMENDED BY-LAWS AND HORIZONTAL PROPERTY REGIME ACT, GRANTS THE BOARD CERTAIN ADDITIONAL DISCRETIONARY POWERS.

The heart of Appellants' challenge of the trial court's decision is whether the language of Section 4.1 of the Declaration grants discretionary powers to or mandates certain actions by the Board of the MBRHOA. Section 4.1 Article IV of the Declaration states in relevant part:

4.1 The Association, acting through the Board of Directors, shall also have the power to: (a) maintain all streets and roads within the Property, including cleaning and periodic resurfacing; (b) provide for all refuse collection (c) obtain, for the benefit of the Property, by purchase, lease or otherwise, as deemed proper by the Board of Directors, cable or master television service and telephone service; (d) maintain the oceanfront area; (e) grant easements, rights-of way or strips of land, where necessary, for utilities, and sewer facilities and other services over the Common Areas to service the Property; (f) maintain such policy or policies of liability and fire insurance with respect to property owned by the Association; (g) employ or contract with a management company to perform all or any part of the duties and responsibilities of the Association, including further duties and responsibilities which may be delegated to the Association by the Individual Condominium Associations and to equitably apportion assessments of same; (h) install and maintain security devices, detectors and communication facilities and contract for employment of security services, guards and watchmen for the project; (i) take such other reasonable action as the Board shall deem advisable with respect to the Myrtle Beach Resort for the benefit of the overall Property.

(Declaration at 7-8). Both Appellants and Respondents agree that the language of Section 4.1 of Article IV of the Declaration is clear and unambiguous. Moreover, both parties agree that the rules of construction for contracts apply to the resolution of this dispute. The parties disagree as to the interpretation of Section 4.1. The Declaration

states South Carolina law controls the interpretation of the Master Association's Declaration and By-laws. See Declaration §6.4, at p. 12.

Under South Carolina law, “[c]ontract interpretation begins with the plain language of the agreement.” *Stevens Aviation, Inc. v. DynCorp Int'l LLC*, 407 S.C. 407, 756 S.E.2d 148, 152 (2014) (citation omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted). Where the contract's language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines its effect. *Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Ins. Co.*, 353 S.C. 491, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003). The contract should be read as a whole, not in a piecemeal fashion, to avoid reading ambiguity into the contract. *S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302–03 (2001). Further, “an interpretation that gives meaning to all parts of the contract is preferable to one which renders provisions in the contract meaningless or superfluous.” *Stevens Aviation*, 407 S.C. at 417, 756 S.E.2d at 153.

Section 4.1 of the Declaration begins, “[t]he Association, acting through the Board of Directors, shall also have the power to ...”. (See Declaration Article IV, §4.1, pp. 7-8). Section 4.1 goes on to enumerate several powers of the Board. As the Court pointed out in its Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Appellants ask the Court to ignore the words “also have the power to” and determine that Section 4.1 of the Declaration mandates the exercise of each enumerated power. (Order Granting Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, pp. 4). Respondents ask the Court to read the phrase “also have the power to” in conjunction with the Declaration's use of similar phrases to determine Section 4.1 of the Declaration grants additional, *discretionary* powers. (*Id.*) In their Initial Brief, Appellants state that Appellants have not asked the Court to ignore the words “also have the power to”, but instead ask the Court

to read the phrase “shall also have the power to” in conjunction with other sections of the Declaration such as Article IV subsection 8(e) of the Amended By-Laws and Section 3.2 of Article III of the Declaration. (Appellants’ Initial Brief, pp. 17-18). However, as the Court held in its Order, these sections use similar but not identical language. (Order Granting Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, p. 4).

Section 3.2 of Article III, which appears immediately before Section 4.1 in the Declaration, states, “This Board of Directors shall act in accordance with the By-Laws.” Clearly absent from the language in Section 3.2 are the words “also have the power to”. The trial court correctly noted the absence of the phrase “also have the power to” demonstrates the Declarant’s intention to differentiate between the mandatory and discretionary powers of the Board. (*Id.*).

By contrast, Section 2.1 of Article II of the Declaration contains language similar to section 4.1. Section 2.1 states the Association has “the power to grant and accept easements to and from any private and public authority...”. (Declaration at §2.1, p. 5). Section 2.1 of the Declaration goes on to state, “Such easements may be granted or accepted by the Association...”. (*Id.*). The trial court correctly found that the language of Section 2.1 “tracks the language of Section 4.1(e), again indicating the Declarant’s intent to create discretionary powers for the Board.” (Order Granting Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, p. 5). Notably, at no point in Appellants’ Initial Brief do Appellants discuss or even acknowledge the language Section 2.1 of the Declaration. Instead, Appellants ignore Section 2.1 by omitting any mention of the language in their interpretation of the Declaration. In reconciling these two sections of the Declaration, the trial court correctly held that it could not “interpret the language in 4.1 as mandatory where

Section 2.1 clearly grants discretion in the use of one of those powers. To do as [Appellants'] intend would ignore the language of Section 2.1 completely." (*Id.*). The laws of contract interpretation in South Carolina require the court to reconcile language to give meaning to all parts of the contract. *Stevens Aviation, supra*.

Appellants further contend that Section 8 of Article IV of the Amended By-Laws support Appellants' position that the Section 4.1 powers are mandatory. The trial court disagreed and instead stated that the language in Section 8 of the By-Laws reinforced the trial court's conclusion that the Section 4.1 powers are discretionary. (Order Granting Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, p. 5). Section 8 of the By-Laws states in relevant part:

Consistent with these By-Laws and applicable Declarations, the Board shall: (a) transact all Association business ...; (b) annually set a budget for the Association; (c) fix, impose, and remit penalties for violations of these By-Laws and the rules and regulations of the Association; (d) elect from the Board... the President, Vice-President, Secretary and Treasurer; (e) carry out all other duties and obligations imposed and exercise all rights granted it by these By-Laws, the Declaration, and the Act.

(By-Laws at Article IV, §8(a), p. 5). While both parties agree that Section 3.2 of Article III of the Declaration and Section 8 of the By-Laws mandate certain conduct by the Board, Appellants contend that these two sections demonstrate that the Section 4.1 powers in the Declaration also must be mandatory. (Appellants' Initial Brief, p. 20). Conveniently, this interpretation ignores the absence of the phrase "also have the power to" in Section 3.2 of Article III and Section 8 of the By-Laws which exists in Section 4.1, Article IV of the Declaration. (Order Granting Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, pp. 5). Given the absence of the differentiating language, the trial court correctly found "that subsection 8(e) of the By-Laws, when read in conjunction with the By-Laws and the

Declaration as a whole, corroborates the discretion granted to the Board in Section 4.1”. (*Id.*). “Any other interpretation eviscerates Section 4.1(i) of Article IV of the Declaration, which grants the Board the power to ‘take other such reasonable action as the Board shall deem advisable with respect to the Myrtle Beach Resort for the benefit of the overall Property.’” (*Id.* pp. 6).

A. The Master Deeds do not reference Section 4.1 of the Declaration.

Appellants next argue that Article XVIII of the Master Deeds of the individual condominium regimes states that the Declarant intended for the MBRHOA’s Board to have mandatory duties under Section 4.1. (Appellants’ Initial Brief, p. 20). Appellants’ argument is misplaced. At no point in Article XVIII of the Master Deeds is Section 4.1 referenced. Rather, Article XVIII addresses a unit owner’s obligations to pay certain assessments to the Master Association for “Resort Expenses” “as such exist from time to time.” (Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend, pp. 3) (See Article XVIII of the Master Deed for Renaissance Tower, pp. 907-908; Article XVIII of the Master Deed for Ocean Front Spa, pp. 382-385; Article XVIII of the Master Deed for Five Seasons Centre, pp. 676-679). The trial court properly found that the language of Article XVIII of the Master Deeds did not persuade the Court to a different conclusion. (Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend, pp. 3).

B. The Horizontal Property Regime Act does not support the assertion that the Section 4.1 powers are mandatory duties of the Board.

Appellants cite S.C. Code Ann. §§ 27-31-150, 160, 170, and 240 in their initial brief to support their contention that the powers enumerated in Section 4.1 of the Declaration are mandatory duties of the Board. (Appellants’ Initial Brief, pp. 24-30). Appellants’ reliance on these statutes is misplaced. First, S.C. Code Sections §27-31-150 and 170

require that horizontal property regimes be governed by by-laws and that the owners within those regimes comply with the by-laws set in place. These statutes do not mandate any specific action by the Board. Similarly, S.C. Code §27-31-160 only requires that by-laws include certain topics. Certainly, this code section does not require that the Section 4.1 powers of the Declaration be considered mandatory powers of the MBRHOA Board.

Finally, S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-240 provides that “the council of co-owners shall insure the property against risks...”. *Id.* Under the Act, the term “council of co-owners” means all owners who own an apartment in the building. See S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-20(d) and (e). On Page 27 of their brief, however, Appellants improperly add the phrase “and/or Board” into the statutory language of Section 27-31-240 to persuade the Court of an interpretation that is unwarranted. In addition to omitting the term “board of directors” in S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-240, the term “board of directors” is absent from the entire Horizontal Property Regime Act. As such, S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-240 cannot be interpreted to require action on the part of the MBRHOA Board.¹

C. Sections 6.2 and 6.4 of the Declaration do not impact the discretionary nature of the Section 4.1, Article IV powers of the Board.

The language of Sections 6.2 and 6.4 of the Declaration does not alter the interpretation that the Section 4.1 powers are discretionary powers. Section 6.2 provides that the enforcement of the provisions of the Declaration, the By-Laws and the other relevant rules and regulations of the MBRHOA are essential to the protection of the

¹ Appellants first raise S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-160 and §27-31-240 in their Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend after the trial court had ruled on Respondent’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. It is improper to raise these arguments for the first time in a Rule 59(e) motion. *Johnson v. Sonoco Prod. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009); *Commercial Credit Loans, Inc. v. Riddle*, 334 S.C. 176, 186, 512 S.E.2d 123, 129 (Ct.App.1999).

individual owners. Section 6.4 governs interpretation of the language of the Declaration; nowhere does it state the Section 4.1 powers of the Board are mandatory. In fact, it actually provides discretion to the Board to construe the Declaration in the manner “which, *in the opinion of the Board of Directors*, will best effect the intent of the general plan of development.” *Id.* (emphasis added). Neither of these provisions are thwarted by the interpretation that the powers of Section 4.1 of the Declaration are discretionary powers to be used when the Board sees fit.

The trial court correctly found that the Declaration and By-Laws, when read as a whole, may only be properly reconciled by interpreting that the powers granted in Section 4.1 of the Declarations are discretionary and not mandates for the Board to act.

II. THE COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE LANGUAGE OF SECTION 4.1 OF THE DECLARATION AND SUBSECTION 8(E) OF THE AMENDED BY-LAWS ARE NEITHER CONTRADICTORY NOR REPUGNANT TO EACH OTHER.

As stated in the previous section, the language in subsection 8(e) of the Amended By-Laws does not require the Court to draw a different conclusion than that reached by the trial court. *See supra* pp. 9-10. Subsection 8(e) states the Board “shall ... exercise all rights granted it by these By-Laws, the Declaration and the Act.” The trial court correctly ruled that this language, read in conjunction with the Declaration as a whole, corroborates the discretion granted to the Board in the Section 4.1 powers. *See supra* pp. 9-10; (see also Order Granting Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, pp. 5). Going further, the court correctly held that “any other interpretation eviscerates the Board’s ability to take other reasonable action as it deems advisable with respect to the Myrtle Beach Resort for the benefit of the overall property.” *See supra* pp. 9-10; (see also Order Granting Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, pp. 5)

III. THE COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE EMPLOYMENT OF SOME OR ALL OF THE POWERS FOUND IN SUBPARAGRAPHS (A) THROUGH (H) OF SECTION 4.1 OF THE DECLARATION OVER TIME DEMONSTRATED THE DISCRETIONARY NATURE OF THOSE POWERS.

Appellants argue that Respondents voluntarily undertook or assumed a continuous duty by performing one or more of the powers in Section 4.1 of the Declaration at some point in time since the inception of the MBRHOA. (Appellants' Initial Brief p. 40). In making their argument, Appellants attempt to support their contention by citing *Walbeck v. I'On Co., LLC* which states, "[When] an act is voluntarily undertaken, however, the actor assumes the duty to use due care." *Walbeck v. I'On Co. LLC*, 426 S.C. 494, 514, 827 S.E.2d 348, 358 (Ct. App. 2018). Appellants' interpretation of the case law is misguided.

Respondents agree with what the case law actually says that if the Board were to act pursuant to its powers, the Board would assume the duty to use good care in taking that action. Appellants' contention is nonsensical and is not supported by the cited case law. They effectively are asserting that should the Board use its discretion and decide to act according to its powers, the Board would thenceforth be forever bound to continually do that act or acts, effectively converting any discretionary power to an ongoing mandatory obligation.

Appellants' argument improperly restricts the discretion granted to the Board in Section 4.1(i) of the Declaration which gives the Board the power to, "take other such reasonable action **as the Board shall deem advisable** with respect to the Myrtle Beach Resort for the benefit of the overall Property." (Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, pp. 5) (emphasis added). The plain language of the Declaration which states "as the Board shall deem advisable" clearly affords the Board

the opportunity to choose not to act when action would be inadvisable.² The trial court correctly held that “even assuming the Board undertook to employ one or more of those powers enumerated in Section 4.1, such assumption does not make those powers mandatory.” (Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend, pp. 4). Rather, the employment of some or all of the powers over time demonstrates the discretionary nature of such powers. *Id.*

CONCLUSION

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